IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

**FILED**

SID J. WHITE

MAR 14 1991

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

By *[Signature]*  
Deputy Clerk

JAMES ODELL ALLEN, :

Petitioner, :

vs. :

Case No. 77,321

STATE OF FLORIDA, :

Respondent. :

\_\_\_\_\_ :

DISCRETIONARY REVIEW OF DECISION OF THE  
DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL OF FLORIDA  
SECOND DISTRICT

INITIAL BRIEF OF PETITIONER ON THE MERITS

JAMES MARION MOORMAN  
PUBLIC DEFENDER  
TENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT  
FLORIDA BAR NO. 0143265

ANDREA NORGARD  
ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER

Public Defender's Office  
Polk County Courthouse  
P. O. Box 9000--Drawer PD  
Bartow, FL 33830  
(813) 534-4200

ATTORNEYS FOR PETITIONER

TOPICAL

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Petitioner, James Allen, was the defendant, Appellee, and cross-appellant in the matter of State v. Allen, 16 F.L.W. (Fla. 2d DCA opinion filed January 16, 1991), wherein the Second District Court of Appeals certified the following question to this Honorable Court:

Has the 1988 Amendment of Section 775.084, Florida Statutes, altered the Supreme Courts' ruling in Brown, holding that the Legislature intended sentencing under Section 775.084-(4)(a) to be permissive rather than mandatory, as stated in Donald?

Respondent, the State of Florida, was the Appellant and cross-appellee, as well as the prosecuting authority below.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

On August 28, 1989, Petitioner, James Allen, was charged by information in the Tenth Judicial Circuit with trafficking in cocaine. (R2-3) The information was amended on November 8, 1989, changing the charged offense to armed possession of cocaine with intent to sell contrary to Section 893.135, Florida Statutes (1989) and Section 775.087, Florida Statutes (1989). (R4-5)

The Honorable Dennis Maloney, Circuit Judge, presided over Petitioners' jury trial held on February 7, 8, and 9, 1990. At issue in the trial was whether Petitioner had thrown down a pouch containing 21.6 g. of cocaine after being chased by Lakeland police Officer Joe Halman.

The incident occurred during the execution of a search warrant at a home suspected of drug sales. Deputy Halman was on the lookout for Mr. Allen, who was purported to be dressed in red pants. (R30-31) When Halman arrived at the scene he saw Mr. Allen seated in a chair in the yard of the house to be searched. (R32)

When Mr. Allen saw the officers, he ran from the chair, crossed the street, and was chased by Halman. (R33) During the chase, Petitioner dropped a gun and a pouch containing cocaine packaged in eight "croners." (R37-38) The gun was loaded and capable of firing. (R35-36) Petitioner initially stated the gun belonged to a white man, then a black man. (R35-36)

Halman's version of events was contradicted by other state witnesses who either did not see Petitioner seated in the

chair or run across the street or saw someone other than Petitioner in the chair. (R69-71, 78, 115, 123, 198-200)

Other witnesses stated Mr. Allen was lying in the road when the police arrived. (R134-137)

Mr. Allen admitted to being in the area, dozing in street. (R240) He heard someone say to "get out of the road," so he jumped up and ran with another guy. (R242) He didn't realize he was being chased until Deputy Halman told him to come out. (R243) He denied ownership of both the pouch and gun. (R245)

Petitioner was convicted as charged. (R354-355, 359)

On March 21, 1990, the State filed Notice of its' intent to seek a sentence as a Habitual Offender under Section 775.084, Florida Statutes (1988). (R360) On April 2, 1990, Petitioner was sentenced. Defense counsel did not contest that Mr. Allen met the statutory criteria for habitualization in terms of his prior convictions, but argued to the court that the protection of the public did not warrant a life sentence. (R364-367) Counsel argued the facts of the case, the type of record Mr. Allen had, his age, and the guidelines recommendation in did not warrant a life sentence. (R365-367) The court sentenced Petitioner to 40 years incarceration followed by 10 years probation. (R368, 372-376) The court checked the habitual offender space on the scoresheet and in the space provided for departure reasons wrote "habitual offender."

On April 10, 1990, a notice of appeal was filed by the State. (R380) On May 2, 1990, a notice of cross appeal was filed by Petitioner. (R389)

On January 16, 1991, the Second District Court of Appeal issued an opinion in Petitioner's case. The court affirmed the convictions and reversed the sentence imposed. The Second District ruled that Section 775.084(1)(a), Florida Statutes (1988) requires that a life sentence be imposed upon a conviction for a first degree felony if the court sentences the defendant under the provisions of Section 775.084, Florida Statutes (1987).



## SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

### I.

The 1988 amendment to Section 775.084, Florida Statutes (1987) does not alter the prior ruling of this court in Brown v. State, 530 So.2d 51 (Fla. 1988), that the imposition of a life sentence is permissive rather than mandatory when a defendant is sentenced as a habitual offender upon his conviction of a first degree felony.

The intent of the Legislature is clearly to broaden the discretion of the trial court in imposing sentences under Section 775.084, Florida Statutes (1988) and is evidenced not only by the timing of the 1988 and 1989 amendments, but also by their content.

Had the Legislature wished to recede from the Brown analysis regarding the interpretation of may and shall it would have enacted a specific amendment doing so.

The First District incorrectly applies rules of statutory construction and civil case law to the interpretation of a criminal statute. In order to give effect to the intent of the Legislature to punish those who commit or have committed more serious crimes more severely, it would be irrational to impose a more severe sentence on a habitual felon as opposed to a violent habitual felon.

### II.

By excluding life felonies and those first degree felonies punishable by life from habitual offender sentencing, the

Equal Protection Clause is violated as there then exists no reasonable relationship between a mandatory life sentence for a simple first degree felony and the Legislature's intent that those convicted of more serious and numerous offenses be sentenced more severely.

## ARGUMENT

### ISSUE I

HAS THE 1988 AMENDMENT OF SECTION 775.084, FLORIDA STATUTES (1987), ALTERED THIS COURT'S RULING IN BROWN V. STATE, 530 SO.2D 51 (FLA. 1988), HOLDING THAT THE LEGISLATURE INTENDED SENTENCING UNDER SECTION 775.084-(4) (A), FLORIDA STATUTES (1988), TO BE PERMISSIVE RATHER THAN MANDATORY?

The Second District Court of Appeal, in rendering their opinion in Petitioner's case, held that Section 775.084(4)(a), Florida Statutes (1988), mandates the imposition of a life sentence upon a defendant for a conviction of a first degree felony as a habitual offender. Petitioner respectfully contends that the decision of the Second District is incorrect. Petitioner appeared before the trial court following his conviction for armed possession of cocaine with intent to sell, a first degree felony, and was sentenced as a habitual offender to 40 years incarceration and 10 years probation. The State appealed, arguing a life sentence was mandatory and the Second District agreed. Analysis shows this to be incorrect.

Section 775.084, Florida Statutes (1988) permits the trial court, after specific preliminary criteria are satisfied, to impose an extended term of imprisonment by treating the defendant as a habitual offender. The relevant portion of that statute to the instant case, subsection (4)(a) provides that the "court ... shall sentence the habitual felony offender as follows: 1. In the case of a felony of the first degree, for life." On its face, this

section appears to mandate a life sentence for a defendant convicted of a first degree felony and classified as a Habitual Felony Offender (H.F.O.). However, this Court must consider the complete wording of Section 775.084 to determine legislative intent, resolve any conflicts and give each section of the statute a field of operation.

The habitual offender statute, since it's original enactment, has been undergone two recent amendments, in 1988 and 1989. In neither amendment was the language of Section 775.084-(4)(a), altered. In analyzing the question of whether the Legislature intended that a life sentence was mandatory because of the appearance of the word "shall" in subsection (4)(a) of the 1987 version of the statute this court in Brown v. State, 530 So.2d 51 (Fla. 1988), held that the Legislature did not intend such a result. As this Court discussed in Brown, the word shall first appeared in 1975 and its insertion was either "an editorial error or a misapprehension of the legislative intent by the editions." Brown, at 53. Given the Brown decision, the question next must be has any subsequent amendment to the Section 775.084, Florida Statutes (1988), altered the holding of this court? When established rules of statutory construction are applied, it is clear the answer is no, and the interpretation of Brown applies to the statute as amended in 1988.

One tool of statutory construction used to discern legislative intent is that the legislature is presumed to know the law and how it is being interpreted by the courts of this state.

The decision in Brown, supra, was issued on June 16, 1988. The legislature amended Section 775.084 in both 1988 and 1989. The amendment of 1988, although substantial, did not alter the sentencing language provision of subsection (4)(a), although it removed habitual offender sentences from the constrictions of the guidelines. Neither did the 1989 amendment alter the sentencing provisions of subsection (4)(a). Since the legislature is presumed to know that this court held that the "shall" of subsection (4)(a) was permissive rather than mandatory, had the Legislature wished a different construction which would require a mandatory life sentence, they could have included an amendment making that declaration. Obviously, the Legislatures' failure to include any such directive in the either of the last two amendments conclusively shows that it is content with the Brown holding.

Secondly, one can analyze what in particular in a statute is the subject of amendments in order to determine whether the amendment is designed to alter the entire statute or just portions of it. For example, in State v. Watts, 558 So.2d 994 (Fla. 1990), in addressing legislative amendments to be Youthful Offender Act, this Court held that what portion of a statute that is amended may shed light on whether the Legislature intended to alter the entire statute. In looking at the 1988 and 1989 amendments, it is clear the Legislature did not primarily focus its attention on the sentencing penalties, but instead significantly altered the definition of a habitual offender and the findings which are necessary in order to impose an extended term of incarceration.

The only significant alternation dealing with sentencing was the exemption of habitual offender sentences from the guidelines. Although this particular amendment seems to undercut that portion of the Brown decision requiring harmony between the guidelines and the habitual offender statute, it does not require a different interpretation be given to the "shall" contra "may" ruling of Brown. Obviously, if the legislature wanted to affect the mandatory/permissive nature of subsection (4)(a), it would have done so specifically, as it specifically addressed the applicability of the guidelines. The removal of the habitual offender from the guidelines clearly provides courts with broader discretion in sentencing. It would be an illogical result to on one hand give greater latitude to judicial discretion and then to severely curtail it on the sentencing of first degree felonies. Thus, the Legislature intended that the courts need no longer provide written departure reasons when sentencing or comply with guidelines as a habitual, and are still not required to impose any specific sentence such as a mandatory life term.

The Legislature is clearly relying more heavily on judicial discretion in fashioning a sentence under the Habitual Offender Act. To require a mandatory sentence of life is an illogical reading of the statutes' history, especially considering the timing and language of its' amendments. The 1988 amendment should not be construed as altering the Brown decision in its' analysis of the mandatory/permissive nature of subsection (4)(a), rather it should be looked upon as the desire of the Legislature to

afford greater discretion to the trial court when sentencing habitual offenders.

Further supporting the interpretation of subsection (4)(a) as urged by Petitioner, in another tool of statutory construction which requires criminal statutes to be strictly construed and in favor of the accused. See State v. Jackson, 526 So.2d 58, 59 (Fla. 1988) and Section 775.021(1), Florida Statutes (1989). This rule of lenity clearly mandates a permissive as opposed to a mandatory interpretation be given to the word "shall." If one examines each of the sentencing alternatives under both the habitual felony offender provisions and the violent habitual felony provisions found at Section 775.084(4)(b), Florida Statutes (1988), it is immediately clear that each one of other sentences utilizes permissive language, (may), in setting forth the allowed sentence. Even the sentencing of a violent felony offender upon a conviction for a first degree felony because of the word "may" clearly allows the court discretion in imposing a life sentence. It would be irrational for the Legislature to require a more severe sentence for the "regular" habitual felon in only one instance, that being those with first degree felony convictions, than for the violent habitual felon, when it is clear the intent was for more severe sanctions to be applied against the violent offender. Consequently, this Court must remove this irrationality and resolve this conflict between these Sections by deciding that the term "shall" in Section 775.084(4)(a) means "may." See Debolt v. Department of Health and Rehabilitative Services, 427 So.2d 221 (Fla. 1st DCA

1983), (court must try to resolve conflicts between conflicting statutes or sections of statutes).

Section 775.0841, Florida Statutes (1989), expresses the Legislative intent concerning the prosecution of career criminals (Habitual Offenders). Section 775.0841 states that priority should be given to certain career criminals given the constraints or the use of available prison space. This expression of intent reflects the understanding that the limited available prison space requires discretion and priority-setting so that certain career criminals are properly sentenced. This intent is expressed in the discretion given to the trial judge in sentencing a habitual offender.

Another rule of statutory construction is that a reviewing court must give effect to legislative intent, notwithstanding contrary statutory language. See Speights v. State, 414 So.2d 574 (Fla. 1st DCA 1982); Parker v. State, 406 So.2d 1089 (Fla. 1981). The legislative intent will prevail, even if it contradicts the literal language of a statute. See State v. Webb, 398 So.3d 820 (Fla. 1981). The Legislature surely intended to give a trial judge the same discretion for sentencing habitual offenders as when sentencing more dangerous violent habitual felony offenders. This legislative intent is also reflected in Section 775.084(4)(c) which gives the trial court discretion to not classify a defendant as a H.F.O. or H.V.F.O. Otherwise, the sentencing scheme in Section 775.084(4)(a) is irrational and contrary to common sense.



The above discussion demonstrates that there is considerable doubt about whether the term "shall" in Section 775.084(4)(a) means "shall" or "may," in light of the language used in Section 775.084(4)(b) and the legislative intent expressed in Sections 775.084(4)(c) and 775.0841, Florida Statutes. This Court should apply the strict scrutiny standard to Section 775.084(4)(a). The doubt about the meaning of Section 775.084(4)(a) should be resolved in favor of Appellant: the term "shall means may," consistent with the term used in Section 775.084(4)(b).

The First District in Donald v. State, 562 So.2d 792 (Fla. 1st DCA 1990) analyzed Section 775.084(4)(b)(1), Florida Statutes (1988), and concluded that the sentencing provisions are mandatory. The reasoning of the First District is incorrect and the Court in Donald was dealing with another issue, therefore that decision should have no bearing on the present action. In Donald, the defendant was convicted of a first degree felony and sentenced as a violent habitual offender. Initially, a sentence of 20 years was imposed with a fifteen year minimum mandatory. The court then resentenced the defendant to a straight 30 years with no minimum mandatory. The court further filed reasons for upward departure. The First District was initially correct in their analysis that the habitual statute allows the court discretion in determining whether to habitualize, however, they were incorrect in determining that this discretion does not also apply to sentencing. The First District held that in order to invoke the fifteen year minimum mandatory provisions of (4)(b)(1), a life sentence had to be given

and that only a life sentence or guidelines sentence could be given. This decision completely ignores the "shall"/"may" analysis of Brown and the legislative history particular to this section.

Counsel also submits that the Donald court's reading of Section 775.084(4)(c), Florida Statutes (1988), is incorrect. The First District held this section is interpreted to mean that if the public protection is not warranted, then a habitual sentence may not be imposed. Rather, a differing interpretation is that while the court may find someone is a habitual offender due to the requisite number of prior convictions, if the protection of the public does not mandate the imposition of the maximum penalty permitted under the statute, then the court may impose a less severe penalty. However, due to the "habitual offender" designation, the defendant would still lose various forms of gain time resulting in longer actual time being served. Thus, there are 3 sentencing alternatives within the court's discretion: to not habitualize and impose a guideline sentence; to habitualize and impose a sentence under the maximum provided by the statute, or to habitualize and impose the maximum penalty provided for by the habitual offender sentencing provisions. Once again, this three sentencing scheme interpretation is consistent with a broadened discretion in the hands of the trial court to fashion a sentence commensurate with the needs of society and appropriate to the particular defendant. Counsel suggests the Donald decision is too narrow in its' interpretation of the sentencing scheme and the Legislative intent of Section 775.083, Florida Statutes (1988).

The Donald court cited Allied Fidelity Insurance Co. v. State, 415 So.2d 109 (Fla. 3d DCA 1982), as authority for its belief that may of subsection (4)(b) was mandatory. In Allied Fidelity Insurance Co. v. State, supra, the Third District Court of Appeal considered whether "shall" was mandatory or permissive. Allied Fidelity is a civil case involving the issue of whether a court may enter a judgment against a bail bond surety upon undischarged forfeitures where written notices were not given within 72 hours of the forfeitures pursuant to Section 903.26(2), Florida Statutes (1976). Consequently, the Third District Court did not rule upon the question relied upon by the Court in Donald v. State, supra. However, the Third District cited, in in dicta, Mitchell v. Duncan, 7 Fla. 13 (1857), as authority for the argument that "may" can mean "shall." The court in Allied Fidelity, supra, used this citation to support the argument that "shall" can mean "may" and conversely "may" can mean "shall." Mitchell v. Duncan, supra, was a civil case involving a law of sureties for the execution of a judgment. One part of the statute was directory and another part was permissive. This Supreme Court construed "may" to mean "shall" for the sake of the justice of giving the whole statute its intended effect. In Jones v. State, 17 Fla. 411 (Fla. 1880), this Court again decided that "may" meant "shall" in a statute covering the assessment of ad valorem taxes for a school district.

Counsel has been unable to find a prior criminal case which has decided that "may" means "shall." The above-cited cases

were all civil cases which involved property or monetary interests which were protected in one part of a statute by mandatory directions (by use of the word "shall"), but were ostensibly unprotected by another section which used permissive language (by use of the word "may"). These civil cases held that "may" could mean "shall" if a statute directs the doing of a thing for the sake of justice. See Mitchell v. Duncan, *supra*. In other words, the general statute directed that a thing be done but a certain part of the statute made the thing to be done permissive, instead of mandatory. To achieve the sake of justice which the statute required, the above-described courts construed "may" to mean "shall."

The Court in Donald v. State, *supra*, did not properly analyze Section 775.084(4)(b) in light of these precedents. A general reading of Section 774.084 does not direct that all habitual offenders "shall" be sentenced in a certain way. The general provisions of the act give discretion to the trial judge on whether to find a defendant to be a habitual offender and this discretion could be further expressed in the discretion inherent in Section 775.084(4)(b). The Court in Donald v. State also did not consider the appropriate "sake of justice" because, in this context, there is no fairness for the defendant. As the intent of the legislature was not clearly expressed in Section 775.084, the court should not have assumed that the sake of justice meant the State's definition of justice. The Legislature could have also intended that "may" should mean "may"; this reading would permit

the trial court discretion to not mete out the draconian sentences in Section 775.084(4)(b).

The Court in Donald v. State implicitly conceded that there was some doubt about whether the word "may" in Section 775.084(4)(b) meant "may" or "shall." To resolve this uncertainty, this Court improperly used the "may means shall" doctrine from civil cases. The use of this civil doctrine was incorrect because: 1) the Court improperly found the thing to be for the sake of justice was, by definition, a harsher sentence than that which was prescribed by the plain language of the statute; and 2) the proper standard of review in this case was strict scrutiny, not the civil doctrine of "may means shall" when a statute directs the doing of a thing for the sake of justice.

Thus, when section 775.084, Florida Statutes (1988), is subject to analysis in order to determine the Legislative intent it is clear that the trial court must still retain discretion in whether to impose a life sentence for a conviction of a first degree felony as a habitual offender.

## ISSUE II

TO REQUIRE A MANDATORY LIFE SENTENCE  
FOR THE CONVICTION OF A FIRST DEGREE  
FELONY VIOLATES PETITIONERS' CONSTI-  
TUTIONALLY PROTECTED RIGHTS OF EQUAL  
PROTECTION.

In attacking the constitutionality of a statute, Petitioner acknowledges that he bears the burden of demonstrating its' invalidity. Pearlstein v. Malunney, 500 So.2d 585 (Fla. 2d DCA 1986), rev. denied, 511 So.2d 299 (1986), Lasky v. State Farm Ins. Co., 296 So.2d 9 (Fla. 1974). Further, a statute will not be declared unconstitutional unless it is shown to be invalid beyond a reasonable doubt. Bunnell v. State, 453 So.2d 808 (Fla. 1984). Even given the burden on Petitioner, Section 775.084(4)(a), Florida Statutes (1988), if interpreted a requiring a mandatory life sentence, fails to pass constitutional muster.

The Equal Protection Clause of the United States Constitution and Article I, Section 2 of the Florida Constitution, allows for the creation, through legislative action, of various statutory classification. However, if those classifications impinge on fundamental rights guaranteed by the Constitution or are applied to suspect classes, strict scrutiny is used to determine the constitutionality of the classification. If there is no fundamental right involved, the rational basis test is then used in order to determine if the statute bears a reasonable relationship to a legitimate state purpose. See Rollins v. State, 354 So.2d 61 (Fla. 1978).

In reference to this appeal, the rational basis test applies because there is no suspect class or fundamental right infringed on. Clearly, the State has a legitimate State purpose in wishing to incarcerate those who are deemed to be dangerous for longer periods of time. Hence, crimes in Florida are divided into differing degree felonies and misdemeanors. There are four main degree of felonies - capital, first degree, second degree, and third degree. However, in assigning punishments, the Legislature has further differentiated first degree felonies into three groups - those punishable by a maximum of 30 years incarceration, (simple first degree felonies), those punishable by a minimum of 40 years incarceration or life (1 degree life), and those punishable by life (PBL's). See Section 775.081, Florida Statutes (1988). Clearly, those offenses deemed more serious are given more serious penalties.

In turning next to the habitual offender sentencing provisions under Section 775.084 4a and 4b, it becomes apparent that a mandatory life sentence for a simple or straight first degree felony bears no rational relationship to the legislative desire to punish more serious offenses more severely.

For example, a person convicted of a first degree life felony, such as sexual battery with a deadly weapon is not subject to habitualization. See Johnson v. State, 15 F.L.W. 2631 (Fla. 1st DCA 1990). Therefore, he will be sentenced under the guidelines for as little as 4 1/2 years under permitted ranges. See: Sentencing Guidelines Category 2 scoresheet, where a life felony

scores 262 points. If the same defendant has two prior convictions for third degree felonies, an additional 53 points would be added, giving a sentencing range from 7 to 17 years under the permitted ranges.

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