0×7

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

SID J. WHITE

MIN 27 1991

CLERK, SUPHEME COURT.

By

Deputy Clerk

JAMES ODELL ALLEN,

Petitioner,

v.

CASE NO. 77,321

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

DISCRETIONARY REVIEW OF DECISION OF THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL OF FLORIDA SECOND DISTRICT

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT ON THE MERITS

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

STEPHEN A. BAKÉR
Assistant Attorney General
Florida Bar No. 0365645
PEGGY A. QUINCE
Assistant Attorney General
Westwood Center
2002 N. Lois Avenue, Suite 700
Tampa, Florida 33607
(813) 873-4739

COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT

/aoh

ISSUE I
HAS THE 1988 AMENDMENT OF SECTION 775.084, FLORIDA STATUTES, ALTERED THE SUPREME COURT'S RULING IN BROWN, HOLDING THAT THE LEGISLATURE INTENDED SENTENCING UNDER SECTION 775.084(4)(A) TO BE PERMISSIVE, RATHER THAN MANDATORY, AS STATED IN DONALD V. STATE, 562 So.2d 792 (Fla. 1st DCA 1990).
ISSUE II5
WHETHER THE CONSTITUTIONALITY OF SECTION 775.084, FLORIDA STATUTES, SHOULD BE CONSIDERED BY THIS COURT INASMUCH AS IT WAS NOT ADDRESSED IN THE CERTIFIED QUESTION?
CONCLUSION9
CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE9

TABLE OF CITATIONS

PAGE	NO.
------	-----

<u>Arnold v. State,</u> 566 So.2d 37 (Fla. 1990)5
Barber v. State, 564 So.2d 1169 (Fla. 1st DCA 1990)5
<u>Carawan v. State</u> , 515 So.2d 161 (Fla. 1987)3
<u>Cross v. State</u> , 119 So. 380 (1928)
<u>Debose v. State,</u> 566 So.2d 367 (Fla. 5th DCA 1990)5
<u>Eutsey v. State,</u> 383 So.2d 219 (Fla. 1980)
Gould v. State, Case No. 75,833, opinion entered March 21, 1991
<u>King v. State,</u> 557 So.2d 899 (Fla. 5th DCA 1990)6
<u>Perkins v. State</u> , 16 F.L.W. S207 (Fla. March 14, 1991)
Roberts v. State, 559 So.2d 289 (Fla. 2d DCA 1990)6
<u>Smith v. State</u> , 567 So.2d 555 (Fla. 2d DCA 1990)

State v. Brown, 530 So.2d 51 (Fla. 1988)
State v. Smith, 547 So.2d 613, 617 (Fla. 1989)
OTHER AUTHORITIES
§775.021(4), Florida Statutes
§775.0841-2, 5,
§775.084(4)(e)
\$021.001

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The instant decision of the Second District Court of Appeal is not in conflict with <u>Brown</u>, infra. The legislature has made clear its intent to override <u>Brown</u> by taking habitual offender sentences outside the guidelines. That the legislature chose not to correct the "editorial error" of the word "shall" in section 775.084(4)(a) only indicates that it is the true intent of the legislature that, once qualified as an habitual offender, Petitioner must be sentenced to life in prison.

The issue of the constitutionality of Section 775.084 is not part of the certified question and should not be dealt with by this Court. Nonetheless, many district court's of this state have passed upon, and affirmed, the constitutionality of the habitual offender statute. That the statute may appear to give habitual violent felony offenders a break over habitual felony offenders does not mean that the statute is not rationally related to a legitimate governmental goal.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE I

HAS THE 1988 AMENDMENT OF SECTION 775.084, FLORIDA STATUTES, ALTERED THE SUPREME COURT'S RULING IN BROWN, HOLDING THAT THE LEGISLATURE INTENDED SENTENCING UNDER SECTION 775.084(4)(A) TO BE PERMISSIVE, RATHER THAN MANDATORY, AS STATED IN DONALD V. STATE, 562 So.2d 792 (Fla. 1st DCA 1990).

Petitioner Allen, in his attack upon the district court's decision, has overlooked several major aspects of the current version of Section 775.084 that militate against his conclusion that the legislature did not intend a mandatory life sentence outside the Florida sentencing guidelines.

Petitioner advocates many different rules of statutory construction. Therefore, he must certainly agree that "[0]ne of the most fundamental principles of Florida law is that penal statutes must be strictly construed according to their letter" and that "[W]ords and meanings beyond the literal language may not be entertained nor may vagueness become a reason for broadening penal statues". Perkins v. State, 16 F.L.W. S207 (Fla. March 14, 1991). The legislature has not rendered 775.084 in any sense vague when it comes to mandatory sentencing under its provisions.

Section 775.084(4)(e) clearly and literally states that "[A] sentence imposed under this section shall not be subject to the provisions of §921.001" (otherwise known as the sentencing guidelines). Nothing could constitute any clearer legislative

intent. Accordingly, once the legislature determined that habitual criminals are to be treated differently than those who undergo guidelines sentencing, it takes no legal gymnastics to conclude that sentences calling for life in prison, far in excess of the guidelines, are the intended result under (4)(a) 1 thru 3.

Yet, Petitioner proceeds to get bogged down in the "may" versus "shall" controversy and concludes that the word "shall", employed in (4)(a) is merely permissive, allowing the sentencer to give a lesser sentence than those called for in 1 4, even though the criminal meets the criteria for thru habitualization. Petitioner obviously advocates the continued vitality of this Court's opinion in State v. Brown, 530 So.2d 51 (Fla. 1988) where the word "shall" in the statute was relegated to a mere "editorial error". However, as Petitioner duly notes, "the legislature is presumed to know the law and how it is being interpreted by the courts of this state". Brief of Petitioner at page 8. If such is the case, then when the legislature amended the statute in 1988 and 1989, it can well be concluded that their failure to correct the "editorial error" of "shall" only means that such was indeed no clerical error but, rather, was the true intent of the people.

The instant scenario of statute, judicial opinion construing statute, and amended statute, has been seen before. Recently, this Court faced the issue of whether the opinion in Carawan v. state, 515 So.2d 161 (Fla. 1987) survived the legislature's amendment to Section 775.021(4), Florida Statutes,

as amended after <u>Carawan</u>. See <u>State v. Smith</u>, 547 So.2d 613, 617 (Fla. 1989). Sub judice, the legislature, in view of the decision in <u>Brown</u> holding that a habitualized criminal cannot be sentenced in excess of the guidelines, mandatory language not withstanding, clearly set habitualized sentencing outside the confines of the guidelines. Therefore, it takes no convoluted leap of legal logic to properly conclude that the legislature <u>meant</u> the sentences described in (4)(a) 1 thru 4 to be mandatory. Moreover, by not correcting the "editorial error" during the past two legislative sessions, it must further be concluded that "shall" indeed means "shall" and that <u>Brown</u> can no longer be read to take the legislature's words so lightly.

Ultimately, the plain meaning of the word "shall", coupled with the legislature's clear intent to take the habitual offender statute well outside the guidelines, leaves one with the same conclusion that was reached in <u>Smith</u>, supra. The legislature has overridden <u>Brown</u> and has determined that habitual criminals shall indeed be sentenced more severely because their past criminal conduct has earned them a place apart from those defendants who learn from their experience with the criminal justice system.

ISSUE II

WHETHER THE CONSTITUTIONALITY OF SECTION 775.084, FLORIDA STATUTES, SHOULD BE CONSIDERED BY THIS COURT INASMUCH AS IT WAS NOT ADDRESSED IN THE CERTIFIED QUESTION?

For his second issue, Petitioner attacks the constitutionality of Section 775.084. This issue was not encompassed within the certified question and therefore should not be addressed by this Court. See <u>Gould v. State</u>, Case No. 75,833, opinion entered March 21, 1991, at footnote 1.

In the event that this Court determines that such rules do not apply to Petitioner, Respondent offers the following, but does not waive the foregoing argument.

Many decisions have reached the conclusion that the habitual offender statute does not violate either due process or equal protection. Debose v. State, 566 So.2d 367 (Fla. 5th DCA 1990). habitual offender statute not unconstitutionally inequitable, irrational or vague; Smith v. State, 567 So.2d 555 (Fla. 2d DCA 1990), amended version of statute did not violate due process or equal protection; Arnold v. State, 566 So.2d 37 (Fla. 2d DCA 1990), classification of habitual offenders is rationally related to a legitimate governmental goal based on the idea that recidivists should be treated more severely than first time offenders and that the statute does not create an arbitrary classification; Barber v. State, 564 So.2d 1169 (Fla. 1st DCA 1990), statute does not violate due process on the ground that it

does not contain a method for determining who it should be applied to or that it does not make any provision for enhancing sentences involving first-degree felonies punishable by life, life felonies, or capital offenses; Roberts v. State, 559 So.2d 289 (Fla. 2d DCA 1990), sentencing guidelines are substantive law and legislature has power to exclude certain classes of defendants from the guidelines and that protection of the public from persons from whom additional protection is needed does not violate equal protection; King v. State, 557 So.2d 899 (Fla. 5th DCA 1990), classification scheme of statute does not offend Constitution merely because it might result in some inequality.

Furthermore, this Court has long since held that the habitual offender statute does not violate traditional notions of equal protection or due process. See <u>Cross v. State</u>, 119 So. 380 (1928). This Court reaffirmed the same in <u>Eutsey v. State</u>, 383 So.2d 219 (Fla. 1980), Chief Justice England concurring in part. The above cited district court opinions have fallen in line with this Court's long standing declaration of constitutionality.

Petitioner has attacked the statute on all of the foregoing grounds as addressed by this State's district courts of appeal. This Court is urged to follow such precedent in view of the clear uniformity of analysis employed by the lower appellate courts of this State.

Additionally, Petitioner points out the "unreasonableness" of having a distinction made between habitual felony offenders and habitual violent felony offenders on the basis that the

statute only uses the word "may" in subsection 4(b), thus allowing seemingly greater sentencing permissiveness for the more dangerous class of habitual criminals. However, that such a distinction may seem unfair or even illogical when compared to (4)(a) does not mean that the classification and punishment scheme is not rationally related to the legitimate goal of treating habitual criminals, in general, more harshly than other more deserving defendants. That the people of the State of Florida felt it best to give the sentencing judge a tad more discretion when it comes to habitual violent felony offenders does not mean the legislature is irrational. It only means that this Court should not accept the invitation to tell the legislature whether its purported leniency is a good policy or not.

Furthermore, and as a corollary to those arguments posed in Issue I, whose to say that the word "may" in 4(b) is not an editorial error and that the legislature really meant to say "shall" in conformity with (4)(a)? Can the rule of "lenity" be accurately applied to convert a "shall" to a "may" where the legislature has so clearly indicated its intent to treat repeat offenders more harshly without respect to the guidelines? When one reads the dictates of subsection (e) in pari materia with the word "shall" in subsection (4)(a), it can equally well be concluded that the "may" word in (4)(b) is but a aberration in view of the legislatures strengthening of the statute in 1988 and

1989. Accordingly, it cannot be concluded that the tension between the "shall" of 4(a) and the "may" of 4(b) creates the kind of irrationality that renders Section 775.084 unconstitutional.

In 1989, the legislature amended subsection (1)1 to include $\underline{\text{more}}$ offenses within the ambit of the statute.

CONCLUSION

Based upon the foregoing facts, arguments and authorities, the judgment and sentence should be affirmed.